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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

 
 
 
CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC. 
 
 

and        Case 5-CA-72211 
 
 
SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL 
UNION, LOCAL 500 
 
 
 

MOTION TO TRANSFER PROCEEDINGS TO THE BOARD AND 
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
 Counsel for the Acting General Counsel, pursuant to Sections 102.24 and 102.50 of the 

Board’s Rules and Regulations and Statements of Standard Procedures, Series 8, as amended, 

respectfully moves that the National Labor Relations Board, herein called the Board: (1) transfer 

this case and continue proceedings before the Board; (2) deem the allegations set forth in the 

Complaint and Notice of Hearing issued on January 18, 2012, to be true as alleged, without 

receiving evidence; and (3) grant summary judgment and issue a Decision and Order based on 

the following: 

1. On September 23, 2011, the Service Employees International Union, Local 500, 

herein called the Union, filed a Petition in Case 5-RC-65270.  See Exhibit 1.  A representation 

hearing was conducted on October 7, 2011.  The Regional Director for Region 5 issued a 

Decision and Direction of Election on October 13, 2011.  See Exhibit 2.  On October 18, 2011, 

the Regional Director of Region 5 issued a Letter Setting Forth Election Arrangements ordering 

the election be conducted by mail ballot.  See Exhibit 3. 
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2. On October 27, 2011, Center for Social Change, Inc., herein called Respondent, 

filed a Request for Review of the Regional Director for Region 5’s decision.  See Exhibit 4.  On 

November 18, 2011, the Board issued an Order treating Respondent’s “request for review” as a 

request for special permission to appeal, and denying same.  See Exhibit 5. 

3. A mail ballot election was held from November 4, 2011, through November 21, 

2011.  On November 21, 2011, the parties were served with a Tally of Ballots showing that, of 

approximately 229 eligible voters, 103 cast valid ballots for the Union and 6 cast valid ballots 

against the Union.  There were 26 non-determinative challenged ballots.  See Exhibit 6.  No 

subsequent objections were filed by either party.  

4. On December 1, 2011, the Regional Director for Region 5 issued a Certification 

of Representative certifying the Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of 

the following unit:   

All full-time, regular part-time and on-call/relief employees who provide direct 
care, direct care awake-overnight, and direct care-week-end, job coach, and 
maintenance associates employed by the Employer at its facilities in Maryland, 
but excluding office clerical employees, coordinators, managerial employees, 
professional employees, guards, and supervisors as defined in the National Labor 
Relations Act, as amended. 

 
See Exhibit 7. 
 

5. By letter dated December 16, 2011, the Union requested that Respondent bargain 

collectively with the Union about the terms and conditions of employment of the unit described 

in Paragraph 4.  See Exhibit 8. 

6. Respondent, by letter dated January 5, 2012, refused to recognize and bargain 

with the Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of the unit described in 

Paragraph 4.  See Exhibit 9. 
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7. On January 9, 2012, the Union filed a charge in Case 5-CA-72211 alleging that 

Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) and (5) of the Act.  See Exhibit 10.  The charge was served 

on Respondent by regular mail on January 11, 2012.  See Exhibit 11. 

8. On January 18, 2012, the Regional Director for Region 5 issued a Complaint and 

Notice of Hearing alleging, in pertinent part, that since on or about January 5, 2012, Respondent 

has failed and refused to recognize and bargain with the Union as the exclusive collective-

bargaining representative of the unit for which the Union was certified.  The Complaint and 

Notice of Hearing was served on Respondent on January 18, 2012.  See Exhibit 12.   

9. On February 1, 2012, Respondent filed an Answer to the Complaint, in which it 

admitted the following: (a) that it is a Maryland not-for-profit corporation, engaged in the 

business of providing in-patient residential services for adult individuals and children, adult day 

care services, and supported employment programs for individuals with developmental 

disabilities and disorders; (b) during the past twelve-months, in providing these services, it 

derived gross revenue in excess of $250,000; (c) during the past twelve months it purchased and 

received at its Maryland facilities products, goods and materials valued in excess of $5,000 

directly from points located outside the State of Maryland; (d) it is an employer engaged in 

commerce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act; (e) the Unit, as described 

above in Paragraph 4, constitutes a unit appropriate for the purposes of collective bargaining 

within the meaning of Section 9(b) of the Act; (h) on December 1, 2011, the Regional Director 

of Region 5 issued the certification described above in Paragraph 4; (i) the Union requested 

bargaining on December 16, 2011; and (j) Respondent has refused to recognize and bargain with 

the Union.  The Respondent denied the following: (a) service of the charge in Case 5-CA-72211 

on January 11, 2012; (b) the Union is a labor organization within the meaning of Section 2(5) of 
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the Act; (c) Joseph Mathew has held the positions of President and CEO and has been a 

supervisor and agent of Respondent within the meaning of Section 2(11) and (13) of the Act; (d) 

at all times since December 1, 2011, based on Section 9(a) of the Act, the Union has been the 

exclusive, collective-bargaining representative of the Unit; (e) by the conduct described above, 

Respondent has been failing and refusing to bargain collectively and in good faith with the 

exclusive, collective-bargaining representative of its employees within the meaning of Section 

8(d) of the Act in violation of Section 8(a)(1) and (5) of the Act; and (f) the unfair labor practices 

of Respondent affect commerce within the meaning of section 2(6) and (7) of the Act.  See 

Exhibit 13.   

10. Respondent’s Answer fails to raise any material issues of fact, as Respondent 

admits it has failed and refused to recognize and bargain with the Union as the exclusive, 

collective-bargaining representative of the Unit.  Proof of service of the charge in Case 5-CA-

72211 is attached hereto as Exhibit 11.  Respondent’s denial of the Union’s status as a labor 

organization within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act is a reversal from Respondent’s 

previous stipulation during the representation proceedings in Case 5-RC-65270. 1  See Exhibit 

14.  Respondent’s denial of the supervisory and agency status of its President and CEO is 

frivolous.  In any event, Respondent’s denial does not raise any issues of material fact because 

Respondent admits in its answer that it has refused to recognize and bargain with the Union.  On 

very similar facts in George Washington University, 346 at fn. 9, the Board held an employer’s 

denial of supervisory and agency status did not preclude summary judgment or raise material 

                                                 
1 See also George Washington University, 346 NLRB 155 (2005), where the Board previously determined that this 
Union is a labor organization within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.  In footnote 7, the Board noted that 
although the employer denied the labor organization status of the union in the unfair labor practice case, the 
employer effectively stipulated to the union’s status as a labor organization, within the meaning of the Act, in the 
underlying representation proceeding.  Id. at fn. 7.  Thus, the Board found the employer’s denial did not raise any 
issue warranting a hearing.  Id. 
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issues of fact warranting a hearing because the employer admitted that it refused to bargain with 

the union in its answer.   

11. Respondent’s defense number two alleging the Complaint was ultra vires should 

be stricken or disregarded by the Board.  The Board has found that it is not appropriate for it to 

decide, in an unfair labor practice case, whether or not the President made a proper appointment 

of an Acting General Counsel under the Federal Vacancies Reform Act of 1998 (the “FVRA”), 5 

U.S.C. §§ 3345-3349.  Lutheran Home at Moorestown, 334 NLRB 340, 340 (2001).   In deciding 

whether to proceed with the disposition of a case on the merits, notwithstanding a claim 

concerning the Acting General Counsel’s authority, the Board applies the well-settled 

“presumption of regularity support[ing] the official acts of public officers in the absence of clear 

evidence to the contrary.”  Lutheran Home at Moorestown, 334 NLRB at 341, citing U.S. v. 

Chemical Foundation, 272 U.S. 1, 14-15 (1926).  See also Anderson v. P.W. Madsen Inv. Co., 72 

F.2d 768, 771 (10th Cir. 1934) (“There is a presumption of authority for official action rather than 

want of authority…”).  Given this presumption, the Board will not adjudicate claims concerning 

the authority of an Acting General Counsel, so long as there is nothing to suggest that the Acting 

General Counsel’s appointment was “clearly improper.”  Lutheran Home at Moorestown, 334 

NLRB at 340.  Respondent has proffered nothing whatsoever to suggest that the appointment of 

the Acting General Counsel was improper.  Thus, Respondent’s second defense fails to raise any 

material issues of fact.  Based on the foregoing, Counsel for the Acting General Counsel requests 

that the Board, after transferring this proceeding to itself, strike Respondent’s second defense, or, 

in the alternative, requests the Board to disregard this defense. 

12. Respondent’s defense number three regarding the date of complaint lacks merit, 

as the correct date of the Complaint and Notice of Hearing is January 18, 2012.  See Exhibit 12.  
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Respondent was served with a copy of the Complaint and Notice of Hearing that incorrectly bore 

the date November 30, 2011.  This single typographical error in Respondent’s service copy, 

resulting from administrative oversight, did not adversely impact Respondent nor did it render 

the service ineffective.  All other aspects of the Complaint and Notice of Hearing served on 

Respondent were correct and Respondent filed an Answer within the specified deadline.   

13. The additional defenses raised by Respondent are legal arguments that do not 

raise any material issues of fact.  Respondent’s defenses one and four merely make legal 

arguments that the pleadings are insufficient and that there is no derivative Section 8(a)(1) 

violation in Section 8(a)(5) conduct.  Respondent’s defenses five through ten merely attack the 

propriety of the underlying Certification of Representative.  These defenses do not raise any 

material issues of fact. 

14. Respondent’s answer fails to present any evidence or assert any issues, if any 

exist, in support of its defense to the Complaint, other than those issues presented by Respondent 

in the representation proceedings in Case 5-RC-65270. 

15. Where, as here, a party fails to meet and bargain following certification by the 

Board, it is the Board’s policy that absent newly discovered or previously unavailable evidence 

or special circumstances, the party is not allowed to relitigate, in a proceeding alleging unfair 

labor practices, issues that were, or could have been, litigated in a prior representation 

proceeding.  Westinghouse Broadcasting Company, Inc., 218 NLRB 693, 694 (1975); Keco 

Industries, Inc., 191 NLRB 257, 258 (1971).  Here, Respondent does not argue that there is 

newly discovered or previously unavailable evidence or special circumstances. 

16. Because a genuine issue of fact does not exist in this case and Respondent has not 

shown that newly discovered, relevant evidence is now available, the Board should transfer this 
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APPENDIX: LIST OF EXHIBITS 

 
Exhibit 1  Petition (September 23, 2011) 
 
Exhibit 2  Decision and Direction of Election (October 13, 2011) 
 
Exhibit 3  Letter Setting Forth Election Arrangements (October 18, 2011) 
 
Exhibit 4  Respondent’s Request for Review (October 27, 2011) 
 
Exhibit 5 Board Order denying Respondent’s Request for Review (November 18, 

2011) 
 
Exhibit 6 Tally of Ballots (November 21, 2011) 
 
Exhibit 7 Certification of Representative (December 1, 2011) 
 
Exhibit 8 Letter from Union to Respondent requesting bargaining (December 16, 

2011) 
 
Exhibit 9 Letter from Respondent to Union refusing to recognize and bargain with 

the Union (January 5, 2012) 
 
Exhibit 10 Charge in Case 5-CA-72211 (January 9, 2012) 
 
Exhibit 11 Transmittal Letter and service of charge in Case 5-CA-72211 (January 11, 

2012) 
 
Exhibit 12 Complaint and Notice of Hearing and Affidavit of Service  

(January 18, 2012) 
 
Exhibit 13 Respondent’s Answer to the Complaint and Notice of Hearing (February 

1, 2012) 
 
Exhibit 14 Stipulation from Case 5-RC-65270 (October 7, 2011) 
 

 
 





INTERNET UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT FORM EXEMPT UNDER 44 U S C

00 NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE
FORM N1.118-5112 NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

PETITION ffS V-0 6 5 2 7 0 9/23/11
INSTRUCTIONS Submit an oftinal of this Petition to the NLRS Regional Office in the Region in which the employer concerned is located.

The Petitioner alleges that the following circumstances exist and mquests that the NLRB proceed under its pmper authority pursuant to Section 9 of the NLRA.
I PURPOSE OF THIS PETITION (if boa RC. RM, of RD is chocked and a charge under Section A(b)(7) of the Act has been filed Involving the Employer named heroin, the

statement following the description of the type of petition shall not be deemed made ) (Check One)

FIC-CERTIFICAMON OF REPRESENTATIVE - A substantial number of employees wish to be represented for purposes of collective bargaining by Petitioner and
Petitioner deaiiMs to be certified as representative of the employees
RM-REPRESENTATION (EMILOYER PETITION) - One or more individuals or labor organizations have presented a claim to Petitioner to be recognized as the
representative of employee& of Petitioner.

0 RO-DECERTIFICATION IREMOVAL OF REPRESENTATIVE) - A substantial number of employees assert that the cortilled or curmntly recognized bargaining
representative Is no longer their ralpfeaentallive.

0 UO-WITHORAWAL OF UNION SHOP AUTHORITY IREMOVAL OF OBLIGATION TO PAY DUES) - Thirty percent (30%) at more of employees In a bargaining unit
covered by on agreement babivoon their employar and a labor arganastion desire that such authority be rescinded

0 UC-UNIT CLARIFICATION- A labor argenizattatri is currently recognized by Employer, but Petitioner seeks clarification of placement of certain employees.
(Check one) 0 In unit not previously certified 0 In unit previously certified in Case No.

0 AC-AMENOMENT OF CERTIFICATION. Petitioner seeks amendment of certification Issued in Case No
Attach statement dascnlimi the specific amendment sought

2 Nome of Employer Employer Representative to contact Tel No

CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC I JOSEPH MATHEW 410--579-6789
3 Add ress(es) of EstablWvnent(s) involved (NOW and n er; ati-State. coWs) Fax No

6600 AMBERTON DRIVE, ELKRIDGE, MD 21075 410-798-1201
4a Type-WE;tablishmantiFactory.rntne, wholesaler. etc) 4b Idurilify principal product or service Call No

NON-PROFIT COMMUNITY RESIDENTIAL, DAY & VOCATIONAL SERVICES TIDEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES SERV e-Mail

5 Unit Involved (in UClathhon. deset9w present bartiaitung unit and attach description a/proposadcladifeshon) So Number of Employees in Unit

Inclu'RILL -CALLIRELIEF DIRECT CARE RECT CARE AWAKE OVE NIGHT Present
ALL U -TIME, REGULAR PART-TIME & ON ol - R 200
DIRECT CARE-WEEK-END, JOB COACH & MAINTENANCE ASSOCIATES EMPLOYED BY THE EMPLOYER. Proposed (By UCIAC)

Excludad
ALL PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES, MANAGERIAL EMPLOYEES, GUARDS, CORDINATORS AND SUPERVISORS As
IDENTIFIED IN THE ACT. Ob. Is this petition su it b 311%

empley"s in Me unit,?- '/ Y
P'op' ".

(it you have chociliad box RC in I above. chac* and carriptak EITHER item 7a or 14 whichever is apiabcable) 'u
'Not applicable In RM, U ind AC

7a 21 Request for recognition as Bargaining Repriasentative was made an (Data) 9.22-20il and Employer declined

recognition on or about (Date) NO PEPLY RECEIVED -(if no reply received, so state)

7b 0 Petitioner is cumently recognized as Bargaining Representative and d"rab ceruticabon under the Act

8 Nome of Recognized or Certified Bargaining Agent (Ifitane, -so state) Affiliation

NONE

Address yet. No Data of Recognition or Cerfificabon

Cell No. Fox No I &-Mail

10. It you have chocked box UD in I above. show here the date of execution of9 Expiration Dote of Cufmnt Contract I? any I'Marith, Day, ear) agreement granting union shop (&knM, Day and Year)

119 Is them now a strike or pickelin l'ithaErnplayef'sestablishment(s) 11b it so, approximately how many employees are participating?
Involved? yes 15 No 21 1

1 Ic The Employer has been picketed by or an behalf at (Insad Namaj a labor

organizollon, of (Insed Address) _ Since (Manth. Day, Year)

12 Organizations or individuals other Win Petitioner (and other than those named in Items 8 and 11 a), which have claimed recognition as representatives and other organizations
and individuals known to have a repriasentaitive interest in any employees in unit described in Item 5 above. (if none, so state)

Nome Tel. No Fax No

Cell No e-Mail

13 11 norma6f-jarty filaig petition (if labor argianization, give full name, including local name and number)

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION. LOCAL 500

in ss (sireel and number. city, shilej and 21P code) 14b Tel No EXT 14C Fa No

901 RUSSELL AVENUE. SUITE. 300, GAITHERSBURG, MD 20879 301-740-7100 301-740-7139

14d Cell No 14P a-Mail SCHWARTZS@FEIU5600R

L
75 -Fun n:m- or - avanai or international labor organization of which Petitioner is an affiliate or constituent (to be rifled in when pefria rganization)

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION

doiciiiinithat I have mad the above patftion anti that W statemen are true to the best of my knowledge and belief.
name (Panq Title (if any)
RICHARD KWAME AMID LEAD ORGANIZER

Address (street and numbee. city. Vale, and ZIP code) Tel No. 301-385-7707 FaxNa 301-7407139

901 RUSSELL AVENUE, SUITE. 100, GAITHERSBURG, MD 20879 240-4214471 email
. . __WaR@3E1U=QELG____j

MLLFUL FALSE STATEMENTS ON THIS PETITION CAN BE PUNISHED BY FIRE AND IMPRISONMENT (U.S. CODE, TITLE 118, SECTION 1001)
PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT

Solicitation of the information on this form is authorized by the National Labor Relations Act (NLFZA), 29 U.S C. § 1511 0 seq The principal use of the information is to assist
the National Labor Relations Board NLRN ivrocessin unfair labor clice and misted proceedings or litigation The routine uses for the information are fully set forth in
the Federal Regisle . A942 3 ( ec. 13, 2 06). The NLFr 'will further explain these uses upon request Disclosura of this information to the NLRB is voluntary,
ho"ver, failure to supply the infilmalion will cause the NLRB to decline to invoke its processes.

sgraham
Typewritten Text

sgraham
Typewritten Text

sgraham
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT 1



FORM NLRB-877
(4-84)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

REGION 5

CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC.
Employer

and
CASE NO. 5-RC-065270

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION,
LOCAL 500

Petitioner
DATE OF MAILING October 13, 2011

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE OF DECISION AND DIRE, CTION OF ELECTION

1, the undersigned employee of the National Labor Relations Board, being duly sworn,
depose and say that on the date indicated above I served the above-entitled document(s) by
post-paid regular mail upon the following persons, addressed to them at the following
addresses:

NEAL SEROTTE, ESQ. JOSEPH MATHEW
SEROTTE, ROCKMAN AND WESCOTT, P.A. CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC.
409 WASHINGTON AVE., SUITE 610 6600 AMBERTON DR.
BALTIMORE, MD 21204-4920 ELKRIDGE, MD 21075-6216

RICHARD AMO, LEAD ORGANIZER STEVE SCHWARTZ, ESQ.
SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL
UNION (SEIU), LOCAL 500 UNION LOCAL 500
901 RUSSELL AVE., STE. 300 901 RUSSELL AVE., STE. 300
GAITHERSBURG, MD 20879-3281 GAITHERSBURG, MD 20879-3281

CHRISTOPHER M. FELDENZER, ESQ.
NICHOLAS SOKOLOW, ESQ.
SEROTTE, ROCKMAN & WESTCOTT, P.A.
PNC BANK-TOWSON BUILDING
409 WASHINGTON AVE,, STE. 610
BALTIMORE, MD 21204-4903

DESIGNATED AGENT
Subscribed and sworn to before me on October 13,2011. /sNIVIAN BROWN

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

REGION FIVE

CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC.

Employer

and Case 05-RC-065270

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL
UNION, LOCAL 500

Petitioner

DECISION AND DIRECTION OF ELECTION

On October 7, 2011, the Region conducted a representation hearing in this case. Upon

the commencement of the hearing, the parties reached stipulations covering all litigable issues.

The only dispute involves the date, time, and manner of conducting the election. The Employer

contends that the election should be a traditional, on-site manual election; the Petitioner asserts

that the election should be conducted by mail ballot.

Whether to conduct an election by mail is a discretionary, non-litigable matter the Board

has entrusted to Regional Directors. In the instant case, the hearing officer permitted the parties

to put on evidence regarding this issue solely to assist me in making this determination. The

Board has consistently held that a Regional Director has broad discretion in arranging all the

details of an election, including whether to conduct an election - in whole or in part - by mail.

San Diego Gas and Elec., 325 NLRB 1143 (1998); National Van Lines, 120 NLRB 1343, 1346

(1958); Southwestern Michigan Broadcasting Company, 94 NLRB 30, 31, (195 1); North

American Aviation, Inc., 81 NLRB 1046 (1949). See also Halliburton Services, 265 NLRB 1154

(1982); Manchester Knitted Fashions, Inc., 108 NLRB 1366 (1954); NLRB Casehandling
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Manual Section 11301.2. An election arrangements letter setting forth my determination as to

the mechanics of the election will issue anon but after due consideration of the parties' positions,

the record, and any post-hearing briefs.

CONCLUSIONS AND FINDINGS

Based upon the entire record in this matter and in accord with the discussion above, I find

and conclude as follows:

I . The hearing officer's rulings made at the hearing are free from prejudicial error

and are affirmed.

2. The Employer is an employer as defined in Section 2(2) of the Act and is engaged

in commerce within the meaning of Sections 2(6) and (7) of the Act, and it will effectuate the

purposes of the Act to assert jurisdiction in this case.

3. The Petitioner, Service Employees International Union, Local 500, a labor

organization as defined in Section 2(5) of the Act, claims to represent certain employees of the

Employer.

4. A question affecting commerce exists concerning the representation of certain

employees of the Employer within the meaning of Section 9(c)(1) and Sections 2(6) and (7) of

the Act.

5. The parties stipulated that the Employer, Center for Social Change, Inc., a

Maryland not for profit corporation with its principle headquarters in Elkridge, Maryland, and

places of business located in Baltimore and Howard Counties, Maryland, is engaged in providing

in-patient residential services for adult individuals and children, adult day care services, and

supported employment programs for individuals with developmental disabilities and related

disorders. During the past 12 months, a representative period, the Employer in the course of
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conducting its business operations derived gross revenues in excess of $250,000, and purchased

and received at its Maryland facilities, products, goods, and materials valued in excess of $5,000

directly from points outside the State of Maryland.

6. 1 find the following employees of the Employer constitute a unit appropriate for

the purpose of collective bargaining within the meaning of Section 9(b) of the Act:

All full-time, regular part-time and on-call/relief employees who provide
direct care, direct care awake-overnight, and direct care-week-end, job
coach, and maintenance associates employed by the Employer at its
facilities in Maryland, but excluding office clerical employees,
coordinators, managerial employees, professional employees, guards, and
supervisors as defined in the National Labor Relations Act, as amended.

1. DIRECTION OF ELECTION

The National Labor Relations Board will conduct a secret ballot election among the

employees in the unit found appropriate above. The employees will vote whether or not they

wish to be represented for purposes of collective bargaining by the Union Rights for Security

Officers. The date, time, and manner of the election will be specified in the notice of election

that the Board's Regional Office will issue subsequent to this Decision.

A. Voting Eligibility

Eligible to vote in the election are those in the unit who were employed during the payroll

period ending immediately before the date of this Decision, including employees who did not

work during that period because they were ill, on vacation, or temporarily laid off. Employees

engaged in any economic strike, who have retained their status as strikers and who have not been

permanently replaced are also eligible to vote. In addition, in an economic strike which

commenced less than 12 months before the election date, employees engaged in such strikes,

who have retained their status as strikers but who have been permanently replaced, as well as
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their replacements are eligible to vote. Unit employees in the military services of the United

States may vote if they appear in person at the polls.

Ineligible to vote are (1) employees who have quit or been discharged for cause since the

designated payroll period; (2) striking employees who have been discharged for cause since the

strike began and who have not been rehired or reinstated before the election date; and (3)

employees who are engaged in an economic strike that began more than 12 months before the

election date and who have been permanently replaced.

B. Employer to Submit List of Eligible Voters

To ensure that all eligible voters may have the opportunity to be informed of the issues in

the exercise of their statutory right to vote, all parties to the election should have access to a list

of voters and their addresses, which may be used to communicate with them. Excelsior

Underwear, Inc., 156 NLRB 1236 (1966); NLRB v. Wyman-Gordon Company, 394 U.S. 759

(1969).

Accordingly, it is hereby directed that within 7 days of the date of this Decision, the

Employer must submit to the Regional Office an election eligibility list, containing the full

names and addresses of all the eligible voters. North Macon Health Care Facility, 315 NLRB

359, 361 (1994). This list must be of sufficiently large type to be clearly legible. To speed both

preliminary checking and the voting process, the names on the list should be alphabetized

(overall or by department, etc.). Upon receipt of the list, I will make it available to all parties to

the election.

To be timely filed, the list must be received in the Regional Office, National Labor

Relations Board, Region 5, 103 South Gay Street, Baltimore, MD 21202, on or before October

20, 2011. No extension of time to file this list will be granted except in extraordinary
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circumstances, nor will the filing of a request for review affect the requirement to file this list.

Failure to comply with this requirement will be grounds for setting aside the election whenever

proper objections are filed. The list may be submitted by facsimile transmission at (410) 962-

2198. Since the list will be made available to all parties to the election, please furnish a total of

two copies, unless the list is submitted by facsimile, in which case no copies need be submitted.

If you have any questions, please contact the Regional Office.

C. Notice of Posting Obligations

According to Section 103.20 of the Board's Rules and Regulations, the Employer must

post the Notices to Election provided by the Board in areas conspicuous to potential voters for a

minimum of 3 working days prior to the date of the election. Failure to follow the posting

requirement may result in additional litigation if proper objections to the election are filed.

Section 103.20(c) requires an employer to notify the Board at least 5 full working days prior to

12:01 a.m. of the day of the election if it has not received copies of the election notice. Club

Demonstration Services, 317 NLRB 349 (1995). Failure to do so estops employers from filing

objections based on non-posting of the election notice.

RIGHT TO REQUEST REVIEW

Right to Request Review: Pursuant to the provisions of Section 102.67 of the National

Labor Relations Board's Rules and Regulations, Series 8, as amended, you may obtain review of

this action by filing a request with the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board,

1099 14th Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20570-0001. This request for review must contain a

complete statement setting forth the facts and reasons on which it is based.
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Proceduresfor Filing a Requestfor Review: Pursuant to the Board's Rules and

Regulations, Sections 102.111 - 102.114, concerning the Service and Filing of Papers, the

request for review must be received by the Executive Secretary of the Board in Washington, DC

by close of business on October 27, 2011 at 5 p.m. (ET), unless filed electronically. Consistent

with the Agency's E-Government initiative, parties are encouraged to file a request for

review electronically. If the request for review is filed electronically, it will be considered

timely if the transmission of the entire document through the Agency's website is accomplished

by no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on the due date. Please be advised that Section

102.114 of the Board's Rules and Regulations precludes acceptance of a request for review by

facsimile transmission. Upon good cause shown, the Board may grant special permission for a

longer period within which to file.' A copy of the request for review must be served on each of

the other parties to the proceeding, as well as on the undersigned, in accordance with the

requirements of the Board's Rules and Regulations.

Filing a request for review electronically may be accomplished by using the E-filing

system on the Agency's website at www.nlrb.gov. Once the website is accessed, select File

Case Documents, enter the NLRB Case Number, and follow the detailed instructions. The

responsibility for the receipt of the request for review rests exclusively with the sender. A failure

to timely file the request for review will not be excused on the basis that the transmission could

1 A request for extension of time, which may also be filed electronically, should be submitted to the
Executive Secretary in Washington, and a copy of such request for extension of time should be submitted
to the Regional Director and to each of the other parties to this proceeding. A request for an extension of
time must include a statement that a copy has been served on the Regional Director and on each of the
other parties to this proceeding in the same manner or a faster manner as that utilized in filing the request
with the Board.
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not be accomplished because the Agency's website was off line or unavailable for some other

reason, absent a determination of technical failure of the site, with notice of such posted on the

website.

(SEAL) /s/ Wayne R. Gold

Wayne R. Gold, Regional Director
National Labor Relations Board, Region 5

Dated: October 13, 2011 103 S. Gay Street, 8 Ih Floor
Baltimore, MD 21202



UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT 
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

  

REGION 5 
103 S. GAY STREET - 8TH FLOOR 
BALTIMORE, MD 21202-4061 

Agency Website: www.nlrb.gov 
Telephone: (410)962-2822 
Fax: (410)962-2198 

  October 18, 2011 
 
Christopher M. Feldenzer, Esq. 
Serrotte, Rockman & Wescott, P.A. 
409 Washington Ave., Suite 610 
Baltimore, MD 21204-4903 
 
Steve Schwartz, Esq. 
Service Employees International Union Local 500 
901 Russell Ave., Suite 300 
Gaithersburg, MD 20879-3281 
 

 

 RE:  Center for Social Change, Inc. 
  Case 5-RC-065270 
 
Dear Messrs. Feldenzer and Schwartz: 
 
 This letter sets forth the election arrangements pursuant to the Regional Director’s 
Decision and Direction of Election (DDE), which issued on October 13, 2011.1  Eligible to vote 
in the election will be the employees identified in the bargaining unit set forth in the DDE.   
 
 For the reasons set forth below, this election will be conducted among the bargaining unit 
employees by mail ballot.  At 4:45 P.M. on Friday, November 4, 2011, ballots will be mailed to 
eligible voters from the National Labor Relations Board, Region Five, Baltimore Regional 
Office, 103 South Gay Street, Baltimore, Maryland, 21202.  Voters must sign the outside of the 
envelope in which the ballot is returned.  Any ballot received in an envelope that is not signed 
will be automatically void. 
 
 Those employees who believe that they are eligible to vote and did not receive a ballot in 
the mail by Thursday, November 10, 2011, should communicate immediately with the National 
Labor Relations Board by calling the Baltimore Regional Office collect at (410)962-2931. 
 
 All mail ballots will be commingled and counted at the Baltimore Regional Office on 
Monday, November 21, 2011, at 3:00 P.M.  In order to be valid and counted, the returned ballots 
must be received in the Baltimore Regional Office prior to the counting of the ballots. 
 
 The petition in this matter was filed on September 23.  A Notice of Representation 
Hearing issued the same day, setting a hearing for October 3.  The Employer requested a 

                                                            
1 Unless otherwise noted, all dates are in 2011. 
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RE: Center for Social Change, Inc.  ‐ 2 ‐  October 18, 2011 
  Case 5‐RC‐065270 
 
 
 

postponement of that hearing on September 29, and the hearing was rescheduled for October 7.  
The hearing was held on October 7 and, on October 13, the Regional Director’s DDE issued.  In 
the DDE, the parties were advised that the mechanics of the election – the sole issue raised at the 
hearing – would be addressed in this election arrangements letter.  Both parties filed post-hearing 
briefs, which have been carefully considered.  The issue is whether the election should be 
conducted manually, as proposed by the Employer, or by mail ballot, as proposed by the 
Petitioner. 
 
 The Employer provides various services for individuals with developmental disabilities 
and related disorders.  The Employer operates seven days a week, twenty-four hours per day.  
Bargaining unit employees work at thirty-three different locations throughout Baltimore and 
Howard counties.  There are twenty-four different shifts that bargaining unit employees work.2  
Employees work part-time, full-time, and weekend schedules. 
 
 For the election, the Employer proposed using training rooms at the following two 
locations:  6600 Amberton Drive, Elkridge, Maryland and 9300 Liberty Road, Randallstown, 
Maryland.  The employer proposed that polls should be open simultaneously at both election 
sites on Sunday, October 30 and Monday, October 31.  The polls would be open Sunday from 
9:00 p.m. until midnight and on Monday from 3:00 p.m. until midnight.3  At the hearing, the 
Employer’s witness testified that such a schedule would accommodate ninety-five percent of 
bargaining-unit employees by providing a polling time close to the beginning or ending of one of 
their shifts.  Additionally, the Employer calculated that all of the Employer’s facilities were 
located six or fewer miles from one of the polling sites, except one location that was roughly 
twenty miles away from the closest polling location.4  Thus, the Employer argued that employees 
could easily vote at one of the locations and the Board should adhere to its preference for manual 
elections. 
 
 At the hearing, the Petitioner objected to the Employer’s proposal and argued that a mail 
ballot election would best allow the employees to vote with the fewest obstacles.  The Petitioner 
argued that employees may have difficulty getting to a polling site due to the large number of 
worksites, variety of shifts, and range of personal difficulties such as a lack of personal 
transportation, additional jobs, school, and family responsibilities.   
 
 Having carefully reviewed the record in light of the parties’ arguments at the hearing, I 
find that circumstances warrant the conducting of a mail ballot election. 
 
 It is settled that the Board possesses a “wide degree of discretion” in representation 
matters. NLRB v. A.J. Tower Co., 329 U.S. 324, 330 (1946); NLRB v. Waterman Steamship 
Corp., 309 U.S. 206, 226 (1940).  The Board has consistently held that a Regional Director has 
broad discretion in arranging all the details of an election, including whether to conduct an 
election – in whole or in part – by mail.  San Diego Gas and Elec., 325 NLRB 1143 (1998); 
                                                            
2 See Employer Exhibit 2. 
3 See Employer Post-Hearing Brief page 3. 
4 See Employer Exhibit 1a and 1b. 
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National Van Lines, 120 NLRB 1343, 1346 (1958); Southwestern Michigan Broadcasting 
Company, 94 NLRB 30, 31, (1951); North American Aviation, Inc., 81 NLRB 1046 (1949).  See 
also Halliburton Services, 265 NLRB 1154 (1982); Manchester Knitted Fashions, Inc., 108 
NLRB 1366 (1954); NLRB Casehandling Manual Section 11301.2.  My exercise of this 
discretion, on behalf of the Board, in deciding to conduct a mail ballot election is guided by 
Section 101.21(d) of the Board’s Rules, the NLRB Case Handling Manual (CHM), and the 
Board’s decision in San Diego Gas and Electric, 325 NLRB 1143 (1998).  Specifically, CHM 
Section 11301.2 provides that situations may arise were a manual election, though possible, 
would be impractical and a Regional Director may conclude that an election conducted by mail 
ballot would enhance the opportunity for all to vote.  In San Diego Gas and Electric, 325 NLRB 
at 1145, the Board held that the use of mail ballot election procedures may be preferable: 
 

(1) where eligible voters are “scattered” because of their job duties over a wide 
geographic area; 

(2) where eligible voters are “scattered” in the sense that their work schedules vary 
significantly, so that they are not present at a common location at common times; and 

(3) where there is a strike, a lockout or picketing in progress. 
 
Regarding consideration (1), it is undisputed that bargaining unit employees operate from a 
minimum of thirty-three various locations spread over two counties.  Regarding consideration 
(2), it is undisputed that at least twenty-four different shifts exist for bargaining unit employees 
and rarely are they all present at a common location at the same time.  It is my opinion that these 
facts indicate the voters are “scattered” in the sense the Board contemplated in San Diego Gas 
and Electric, 325 NLRB at 1145 n. 7, as described in CHM Section 11301.2.  Consideration (3) 
is not an issue in the case at hand. 
 
 As the Board held in San Diego Gas and Electric, 325 NLRB at 1145, “If any of the 
foregoing situations exist, the Regional Director, in the exercise of discretion, should also 
consider the desires of all the parties, the likely ability of voters to read and understand mail 
ballots, the availability of addresses for employees, and finally, what constitutes the efficient use 
of Board resources, because efficient and economic use of Board agents is reasonably a 
concern.”  As previously stated, the Employer desires a manual election and the Union a mail 
ballot election.  There is no evidence that voters lack the ability to read and understand the mail 
ballots, or that availability of addresses for employees will be an issue.  Concerning the Board’s 
resources, a mail ballot election is likely to result in a more cost effective and efficient use of 
resources given that the Employer’s proposal would require a minimum of two Board agents 
working at two polling sites for at least twelve hours each, a majority of which would occur for 
two days, outside normal business hours.  In sum, after carefully considering the arguments of 
the parties, I conclude that the paramount goal of enhancing the opportunity for all to vote, while 
at the same time efficiently using the Board’s resources, will best be served by conducting a mail 
ballot election. 

 
 The following is a reminder of some of the Board's requirements regarding the posting of 
Election Notices:  
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  Case 5‐RC‐065270 
 
 
 

 
1. The Employer shall post copies of the Board's official Notice of Election in conspicuous 

places at least 3 full working days prior to 12:01 AM of the day of the election. 
 
2. The term "working day" shall mean an entire 24-hour period excluding Saturdays, Sundays, 

and holidays. 
 
3. A party shall be estopped from objecting to nonposting of notices if it is responsible for the 

nonposting.  An employer shall be conclusively deemed to have received copies of the 
Election Notice for posting unless it notifies the Regional Office at least 5 working days prior 
to the commencement of the election that it has not received copies of the Election Notice. 

 
4. Failure to post the Election Notices as required herein shall be grounds for setting aside the 

election whenever proper and timely objections are filed under the provisions of Section 
102.69(a) of the Board's Rules and Regulations. 

 
IN THE EVENT THE EMPLOYER DOES NOT RECEIVE COPIES OF THE NOTICE OF 
ELECTION AT LEAST FIVE (5) WORKING DAYS PRIOR TO THE DAY OF THE 
ELECTION, THE OFFICE OF THE ASSISTANT TO THE REGIONAL DIRECTOR 
SHOULD BE CONTACTED AT (410) 962-3155. 
 
Thank you for your cooperation in this matter. 
 
  Yours truly, 
 
 
 
  Wayne R. Gold 
  Regional Director 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD  

 
 
CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC.     

Employer  
 
                        and                       Case 05-RC-065270 

      
 
SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL  
UNION, LOCAL 500 
    Petitioner 
 

ORDER  
  
     Employer’s request for special permission to appeal1 the Regional Director’s determination to 
conduct the election by mail ballot is granted, and the appeal is denied inasmuch as there is no 
showing that the Regional Director abused his discretion.  
    
      MARK GASTON PEARCE   CHAIRMAN 
 
                                                                        CRAIG BECKER,                               MEMBER 
 
                  BRIAN E. HAYES,               MEMBER  
 
 
     Dated, Washington, D.C., November 18, 2011.   

                                           
1 We have treated the Employer’s “request for review” of the Regional Director’s mail ballot determination as a 
request for special permission to appeal. 
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0 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA is
FORM NLRB-760

.(7-10) NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD Date Filed

Case No. 5-RC-65270 ............ [Sep 23, 2011
CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC. ---------------- --------------------

Date issued November 21 1, 2011

Employer -----------------------------------------------

City Baltimore ----------------------------- State MD ------
and Type of Election: (if applicable check

(Check one.) either or both.)
SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL E] Stipulation EJ 8(b) (7)UNION, LOCAL 500

Petitioner Ei Board Direction mail Ballot
Consent Agreement

RD Direction
Incumbent Union (Code)

TALLY OF BALLOTS
The undersigned agent of the Regional Director certifies that the results of tabulation of ballots case in the election held

in the above case, and concluded on the date indicated above, were as follows-

1. Approximate number of eligible voters

2. Number of Void ballots

3. Number of Votes cast for PETITIONER
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------

4. Number of Votes cast for

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------

5. Number of Votes cast for

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------

6 Number of Votes cast against participating labor organization(s) G

7. Number of Valid votes counted (sum 3, 4, 5, and 6) 0 ?

8. Number of challenged ballots Z o

9. Number of Valid votes counted plus challenged ballots (sum of 7 and 8)

10. Challenges ar C )s ufficient in number to affect the results of the election.

11 A majority of the valid votes counted plus challenged ballots (Item 0 (not) been cast for

PETITIONER
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

--------- ------For the Regional Director -Region 5

The undersigned acted as authorized observers in the counting and tabulating of ballots indicated aboC.,W
., Jeereby certify that the

counting and tabulating were fairly and accurately done, that the secrecy of the ballots was maintained, t the results were as
indicated above. We also acknowledge service of this tally.

For EMPLOYER

----------------------------------------------------------------------

For _TITI0NE ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

_2 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

For
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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FORM NLRB-4279 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA RC-RM-RD
(2-88) NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

TYPE OF ELECTION (ALSO CHECK BOX BELOW

CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC. WHEN APPROPRIA TE)

(CHECK ONE)

Employer F-1 CONSENT

And

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL F1 STIPULATED 8(b) (7)

UNION, LOCAL 500

Petitioner X RD DIRECTED

E:1 BOARD DIRECTED

CASE 5-RC-065270

CERTIFICATION OF REPRESENTATIVE

An election has been conducted under the Board's Rules and Regulations. The Tally of Ballots shows that a
collective-bargaining representative has been selected. No timely objections have been filed.

As authorized by the National Labor Relations Board, it is certified that a majority of the valid ballots has been
cast for

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 500

And that it is the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of the employees in the following appropriate unit.

All full-time, regular part-time and on-call/relief employees who provide direct care, direct care awake-overnight, and
direct care-week-end, job coach, and maintenance associates employed by the Employer at its facilities in Maryland, but
excluding office clerical employees, coordinators, managerial employees, professional employees, guards, and
supervisors as defined in the National Labor Relations Act, as amended.

Signed at Baltimore, MD

ST Regional'Director, RLEgion 5
On the National Labor Relations Board

Baltimore, MD
day of December 2011
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FORM EXEMPT UNDER 44 U S C 3512

INTERNET UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
FORM NLRB-501 DO NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE

(2-08) NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
CHARGE AGAINST EMPLOYER Case Date Filed

INSTRUCTIONS: 
5-CA-722111 1/9/12

File an original with NILRB Regional Director for the region in which the alleged unfair labor practice occurred or is occurring.

1. EMPLOYER AGAINST WHOM CHARGE IS BROUGHT
a. Name of Employer b. Tel. No' 410-579-6789
Center for Social Change, Inc. 

c. Cell No.

f. Fax No' 410-796-1201
d Address (Street, city, state, and ZIP code) e. Employer Representative

6600 Amberton Drive Joseph Mathew, Ph.D g. e-Mail

Elkridge, Maryland 21075

h. Number of workers employed
200+

i. Type of Establishment (factory, mine, wholesaler, etc.) j. Identify principal product or service
Non-profit Community Residential I Developmental Disabilities Services

k The above-named employer has engaged in and is engaging in unfair labor practices within the meaning of section 8(a), subsections (1) and (list

subsections) (5) of the National Labor Relations Act, and these unfair labor

practices are practices affecting commerce within the meaning of the Act, or these unfair labor practices are unfair practices affecting commerce
within the meaning of the Act and the Postal Reorganization Act.

2. Basis of the Charge (set forth a clear and concise statement of the facts constituting the alleged unfair labor practices)

The Employer, Center for Social Change, Inc.(CSC), did violate the rights of Service Employees International Union, Local
500, by expressly refusing to recognize or bargain with the certified representative, Service Employees International Union
Local 500 (Local 500), by its letter, dated January 5, 2012, from Joseph Mathew, President and CEO of CSC, to Ms. Diane
Rigotti, Director of Representation Programs for Service Employees International Union Local 500. This was in response to
Local 500's request to bargain, sent to CSC in a lefter dated December 16, 2011.

3 Full name of party filin charge (if labor organization, give full name, including local name and number)
Service Employees ?nternational Union, Local 500

4a. Address (Street and number, city, state, and ZIP code) 4b. Tel. No. 301-740-7100
901 Russell Avenue 4c. Cell No
Suite 300
Gaithersburg, Maryl2nd 20879 4d. Fax No- 301-740-7139

4e. e-Mail

5. Full name of national or international labor organization of which it is an affiliate or constituent unit (to be filled in when charge is filed by a labor
organization) Service Employees International Union, CtW, CLC

6. DECLARATION Tel. No
I declare that I have read the above charge and that the statements are true to the best of my knowledge and belief. 301-740-7104

Steve Schwartz, Counsel Office, if any, Cell No.
By -jy 414 301-385-7873

(sjqy6tJeof representitive or person makin I Charge) (PrintItype name and title or office, if any) Fax No- 301-740-7139

e-Mail
901 Russell Ave, Suite 300, Gaithersburg, MD 20879 01/06/12 schwartzs(aseiu500.oraAddress (date)

WILLFUL FALSE STATEMENTS ON THIS CHARGE CAN BE PUNISHED BY FINE AND IMPRISONMENT (U.S. CODE, TITLE 18, SECTION 1001)
PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT

Solicitation of the information on this form is authorized by the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), 29 U.S.C. § 151 et seq. The principal use of the information is to assist
the National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) in processing unfair labor practice and related proceedings or litigation. The routine uses for the information are fully setforth in
the Federal Register, 71 Fed. Reg. 74942-43 (Dec 13, 2006). The NLRB will further explain these uses upon request. Disclosure of this information to the NLRB is
voluntary; however, failure to supply the information will cause the NLRB to decline to invoke its processes.
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UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT 
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

  

REGION 5 
103 S GAY ST 
8TH FLOOR 
BALTIMORE, MD 21202-7500 

 
Agency Website: www.nlrb.gov 
Telephone: (410)962-2822 
Fax: (410)962-2198 

January 11, 2012 

Mr. Joseph Mathew 
Center for Social Change, Inc. 
6600 Amberton Dr. 
Elkridge, MD 21075-6216 
 

Re: Center for Social Change Inc. 
 Case 05-CA-072211 
 

Dear Mr. Mathew: 

Enclosed is a copy of a charge that has been filed in this case.  This letter tells you how to 
contact the Board agent who will be investigating the charge, explains your right to be 
represented, discusses presenting your evidence, and provides a brief explanation of our 
procedures, including how to submit documents to the NLRB. 

Investigator:  This charge is being investigated by Field Attorney Matthew Turner 
whose telephone number is (410) 962-2200.   If Matthew Turner is not available, you may 
contact Deputy Regional Attorney John Doyle whose telephone number is (410) 962-3156.  

Right to Representation:  You have the right to be represented by an attorney or other 
representative in any proceeding before us.  If you choose to be represented, your representative 
must notify us in writing of this fact as soon as possible by completing Form NLRB-4701, 
Notice of Appearance.  This form is available on our website, www.nlrb.gov, or from an NLRB 
office upon your request. 

If you are contacted by someone about representing you in this case, please be assured 
that no organization or person seeking your business has any "inside knowledge" or favored 
relationship with the National Labor Relations Board.  Their knowledge regarding this 
proceeding was only obtained through access to information that must be made available to any 
member of the public under the Freedom of Information Act. 

Presentation of Your Evidence:  We seek prompt resolutions of labor disputes.  
Therefore, I urge you or your representative to submit a complete written account of the facts 
and a statement of your position with respect to the allegations set forth in the charge as soon as 
possible.  If the Board agent later asks for more evidence, I strongly urge you or your 
representative to cooperate fully by promptly presenting all evidence relevant to the 
investigation.  In this way, the case can be fully investigated more quickly. 

Full and complete cooperation includes providing witnesses to give sworn affidavits to a 
Board agent, and providing all relevant documentary evidence requested by the Board agent.  
Sending us your written account of the facts and a statement of your position is not enough to be 
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Center for Social Change Inc. - 2 - January 11, 2012
Case 05-CA-072211   
 
considered full and complete cooperation.  A refusal to fully cooperate during the investigation 
might cause a case to be litigated unnecessarily.  

In addition, either you or your representative must complete the enclosed Commerce 
Questionnaire to enable us to determine whether the NLRB has jurisdiction over this dispute.  If 
you recently submitted this information in another case, or if you need assistance completing the 
form, please contact the Board agent. 

We will not honor any request to place limitations on our use of position statements or 
evidence beyond those prescribed by the Freedom of Information Act and the Federal Records 
Act.  Thus, we will not honor any claim of confidentiality except as provided by Exemption 4 of 
FOIA, 5 U.S.C. Sec. 552(b)(4), and any material you submit may be introduced as evidence at 
any hearing before an administrative law judge.  We are also required by the Federal Records 
Act to keep copies of documents gathered in our investigation for some years after a case closes.  
Further, the Freedom of Information Act may require that we disclose such records in closed 
cases upon request, unless there is an applicable exemption.  Examples of those exemptions are 
those that protect confidential financial information or personal privacy interests. 

Procedures:  We strongly urge everyone to submit all documents and other materials 
(except unfair labor practice charges and representation petitions) by E-Filing (not e-mailing) 
through our website, www.nlrb.gov.  However, the Agency will continue to accept timely filed 
paper documents.  Please include the case name and number indicated above on all your 
correspondence regarding the charge.  

Information about the Agency, the procedures we follow in unfair labor practice cases 
and our customer service standards is available on our website, www.nlrb.gov or from an NLRB 
office upon your request.  NLRB Form 4541 offers information that is helpful to parties involved 
in an investigation of an unfair labor practice charge. 

We can provide assistance for persons with limited English proficiency or disability.  
Please let us know if you or any of your witnesses would like such assistance. 

Very truly yours, 

  

Wayne R. Gold 
Regional Director 

Enclosures: 
1. Copy of Charge 
2. Commerce Questionnaire 



 

 

Revised 3/21/2011 NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD  

QUESTIONNAIRE ON COMMERCE INFORMATION 

 

Please read carefully, answer all applicable items, and return to the NLRB Office.  If additional space is required, please add a page and identify item number. 
CASE NAME 
Center for Social Change Inc.   

CASE NUMBER 
05-CA-072211 

1.  EXACT LEGAL TITLE OF ENTITY (As filed with State and/or stated in legal documents forming entity) 
 
 
2. TYPE OF ENTITY 
[  ]  CORPORATION [  ]  LLC    [  ]  LLP [  ]  PARTNERSHIP [  ]  SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP  [  ]  OTHER (Specify ) 
3.  IF A CORPORATION or LLC 
A. STATE OF INCORPORATION 

OR FORMATION  
 

B.  NAME, ADDRESS, AND RELATIONSHIP (e.g. parent, subsidiary) OF ALL RELATED ENTITIES 
 
 

4. IF AN LLC OR ANY TYPE OF PARTNERSHIP, FULL NAME AND ADDRESS OF ALL MEMBERS OR PARTNERS 
 
 
5. IF A SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP, FULL NAME AND ADDRESS OF PROPRIETOR 

 
6. BRIEFLY DESCRIBE THE NATURE OF YOUR OPERATIONS (Products handled or manufactured, or nature of services performed). 
 
 
7. A.  PRINCIPAL  LOCATION: B.  BRANCH LOCATIONS: 
  

8. NUMBER OF PEOPLE PRESENTLY EMPLOYED 
 A.  Total:     B.  At the address involved in this matter:  
9. DURING THE MOST RECENT (Check appropriate box): [   ] CALENDAR YR    [  ] 12 MONTHS     or  [  ] FISCAL YR  (FY dates                                       )   
 YES NO 
A. Did you provide services valued in excess of $50,000 directly to customers outside your State?  If no, indicate actual value.  

$____________________ 
  

B. If you answered no to 9A, did you provide services valued in excess of $50,000 to customers in your State who purchased goods 
valued in excess of $50,000 from directly outside your State?  If no, indicate the value of any such services you provided. 
$______________________ 

  

C. If you answered no to 9A and 9B, did you provide services valued in excess of $50,000 to public utilities, transit systems, 
newspapers, health care institutions, broadcasting stations, commercial buildings, educational institutions, or retail concerns?  If 
less than $50,000, indicate amount.   $__________________________ 

  

D. Did you sell goods valued in excess of $50,000 directly to customers located outside your State? If less than $50,000, indicate 
amount.  $__________________________ 

  

E. If you answered no to 9D, did you sell goods valued in excess of $50,000 directly to customers located inside your State who 
purchased other goods valued in excess of $50,000 from directly outside your State?   If less than $50,000, indicate amount.  
$__________________________ 

  

F. Did you purchase and receive goods valued in excess of $50,000 from directly outside your State?   If less than $50,000, indicate 
amount.  $__________________________ 

  

G. Did you purchase and receive goods valued in excess of $50,000 from enterprises who received the goods directly from points 
outside your State?     If less than $50,000, indicate amount. $__________________________ 

  

H. Gross Revenues from all sales or performance of services (Check the largest amount):   
 [  ]  $100,000    [  ]  $250,000     [  ]  $500,000     [  ]  $1,000,000 or more    If less than $100,000, indicate amount. 
I. Did you begin operations within the last 12 months?    If yes, specify date:  __________________________   

10 ARE YOU A MEMBER OF AN ASSOCIATION OR OTHER EMPLOYER GROUP THAT ENGAGES IN COLLECTIVE BARGAINING?  
 [  ]  YES     [  ]  NO   (If yes, name and address of association or group). 
11. REPRESENTATIVE BEST QUALIFIED TO GIVE FURTHER INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR OPERATIONS  
 NAME TITLE E-MAIL ADDRESS TEL. NUMBER 

 
 

12.  AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE COMPLETING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE 
NAME AND TITLE (Type or Print) SIGNATURE E-MAIL ADDRESS 

 
 

DATE 
 

PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT 
Solicitation of the information on this form is authorized by the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), 29 U.S.C. § 151 et seq. The principal use of the information is to assist the National Labor Relations 
Board (NLRB) in processing representation and/or unfair labor practice proceedings and related proceedings or litigation. The routine uses for the information are fully set forth in the Federal Register, 
71 Fed. Reg. 74942-43 (Dec. 13, 2006). The NLRB will further explain these uses upon request. Disclosure of this information to the NLRB is voluntary. However, failure to supply the information may 
cause the NLRB to refuse to process any further a representation or unfair labor practice case, or may cause the NLRB to issue you a subpoena and seek enforcement of the subpoena in federal court. 
 



 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

 
CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC. 

 Charged Party 

 and 

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL 
UNION, LOCAL 500 

 Charging Party 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Case 05-CA-072211 
 

 

 

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE OF CHARGE AGAINST EMPLOYER 

 
I, the undersigned employee of the National Labor Relations Board, state under oath that on 
January 11, 2012, I served the above-entitled document(s) by post-paid regular mail upon the 
following persons, addressed to them at the following addresses: 

Mr. Joseph Mathew 
Center for Social Change, Inc. 
6600 Amberton Dr. 
Elkridge, MD 21075-6216 

 
 

 
January 11, 2012  Lalitta Gillis, Designated Agent of NLRB 

Date  Name 
 
 

  /s/ Lalitta Gillis 
  Signature 
 



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 5 
 

 
 
CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC. 
 
 and Case 5-CA-72211 
 
SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL 
UNION, LOCAL 500 
 
 

COMPLAINT AND NOTICE OF HEARING 

 Service Employees International Union, Local 500, herein called the Union, has charged 

that Center for Social Change, Inc., herein called Respondent, has been engaging in unfair labor practices 

as set forth in the National Labor Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. § 151 et seq., herein called the Act.  Based 

thereon, the Acting General Counsel, by the undersigned, pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Act and 

Section 102.15 of the Rules and Regulations of the National Labor Relations Board, herein called the 

Board, issues this Complaint and Notice of Hearing and alleges as follows: 

 1. The charge in this proceeding was filed by the Union on January 9, 2012, and a copy 

was served by mail on Respondent on January 11, 2012. 

 2. (a)  At all material times, Respondent, a Maryland not-for-profit corporation with its 

principle headquarters in Elkridge, Maryland, and places of business located in Baltimore and Howard 

Counties, Maryland, has been engaged in providing in-patient residential services for adult individuals 

and children, adult day care services, and supported employment programs for individuals with 

developmental disabilities and disorders. 

 (b)  During the preceding twelve months, a representative period, Respondent, in 

conducting its business operations described above in paragraph 2(a), derived gross revenues in excess of 

$250,000. 

 (c)  During the period of time described above in paragraph 2(b), Respondent, in 

conducting its business operations described above in paragraph 2(a), purchased and received at its 
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Maryland facilities products, goods and materials valued in excess of $5,000 directly from points located 

outside the State of Maryland. 

 (d)  At all material times, Respondent has been an employer engaged in commerce 

within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6) and (7) of the Act. 

 3. At all material times, the Union has been a labor organization within the meaning of 

Section 2(5) of the Act. 

 4. At all material times, Joseph Mathew has held the positions of President and CEO and 

has been a supervisor of Respondent within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Act and an agent of 

Respondent within the meaning of Section 2(13) of the Act. 

 5. (a)  The following employees of Respondent, herein called the Unit, constitute a unit 

appropriate for the purposes of collective bargaining within the meaning of Section 9(b) of the Act: 

All full-time, regular part-time and on-call/relief 
employees who provide direct care, direct care awake-
overnight, and direct care-week-end, job coach, and 
maintenance associates employed by the Employer at its 
facilities in Maryland, but excluding office clerical 
employees, coordinators, managerial employees, 
professional employees, guards, and supervisors as 
defined in the National Labor Relations Act, as amended. 

  
 (b)  On December 1, 2011, the Union was certified as the exclusive, collective-

bargaining representative of the Unit.  The Decision and Certification of Representative is attached hereto 

as Attachment A. 

 (c)  At all times since December 1, 2011, based on Section 9(a) of the Act, the Union 

has been the exclusive, collective-bargaining representative of the Unit.  

 6. On or about December 16, 2011, the Union requested that Respondent bargain with it 

as the exclusive, collective-bargaining representative of the Unit. 

 7. Since on or about January 5, 2012, Respondent has failed and refused to recognize and 

bargain with the Union as the exclusive, collective-bargaining representative of the employees in the Unit. 
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 8. By the conduct described above in paragraph 7, Respondent has been failing and 

refusing to bargain collectively and in good faith with the exclusive, collective-bargaining representative 

of its employees within the meaning of Section 8(d) of the Act in violation of Section 8(a)(1) and (5) of 

the Act. 

 9. The unfair labor practices of Respondent described above affect commerce within the 

meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act. 

 
 

ANSWER REQUIREMENT 
 
 Respondent is notified that, pursuant to Sections 102.20 and 102.21 of the Board’s Rules 

and Regulations; it must file an answer to the complaint.  The answer must be received by this office on 

or before February 1, 2012, or postmarked on or before January 31, 2012.  Unless filed 

electronically in a pdf format, Respondent should file an original and four copies of the answer with this 

office.  

 An answer may also be filed electronically by using the E-Filing system on the Agency’s 

website.  In order to file an answer electronically, access the Agency’s website at http://www.nlrb.gov,  

click on E-Gov tab, select E-Filing and then follow the detailed instructions.  The responsibility for the 

receipt and usability of the answer rests exclusively upon the sender.  Unless notification on the Agency’s  

website informs users that the Agency’s E-Filing system is officially determined to be in technical failure 

because it is unable to receive documents for a continuous period of more than 2 hours after 12:00 noon 

(Eastern Time) on the due date for filing, a failure to timely file the answer will not be excused on the 

basis that the transmission could not be accomplished because the Agency’s website was off-line or 

unavailable for some other reason.  The Board’s Rules and Regulations require that an answer be signed 

by counsel or non-attorney representative for represented parties or by the party if not represented. See 

Sections 102.21.  If an answer being filed electronically is a pdf document containing the required 

signature, no paper copies of the answer need to be transmitted to the Regional Office.  However, if the 

electronic version of an answer to a complaint is not a pdf file containing the required signature, then the 







FORM NLRB-877 
          (4-84) 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 Case 5-CA-72211 
   
 
 
 
DATE OF MAILING  January 18, 2012 
 

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE OF     Complaint and Notice of Hearing  
 
I, the undersigned employee of the National Labor Relations Board, being duly sworn, depose and say that on the date 
indicated above I served the above-entitled document(s) by post-paid certified mail upon the following persons, addressed 
to them at the following addresses: 
 

  7010 0780 0000 3626 3917 
 

   CHRISTOPHER M. FELDENZER, ESQ. 
   SEROTTE, ROCKMAN & WESCOTT, P.A. 
   409 WASHINGTON AVE., SUITE 610 
   BALTIMORE, MD  21204-4920 

 

   MR. JOSEPH MATTHEW 
   CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC. 
   6600 AMBERTON DRIVE 
   ELKRIDGE, MD  21075-6216 

 

    
       

 

   STEVE SCHWARTZ, ESQ. 
   SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL 
      UNION 
   901 RUSSELL AVE., SUITE 300 
   GAITHERSBURG, MD  20879-3281 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed in Baltimore, Maryland this 18th day of   

January 2012 

DESIGNATED AGENT 
 
        /s/  Monica Graves 
 

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

 

 
 
 CENTER FOR SOCIAL CHANGE, INC. 
 
          and 
 
 SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL 
 UNION, LOCAL 500 
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